FILED

SID J MANTE

JUL 11 1995

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Chief Deputy Clerk

By _

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

DOCKET NO. 85,990 (DCA No. 93-3025)

LUCILLE NASH,

Petitioner,

vs.

WELLS FARGO GUARD SERVICES INC., OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, First District, State of Florida

> COKER, MYERS, SCHICKEL, COOPER & SORENSON, P.A.

HOWARD C. COKER, ESQUIRE ,141540 Floriday Bar, No,

CORINNE L. HELLER, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 907911 136 East Bay Street Jacksonville, FL 32202 (904) 356-6071

Attorneys for Petitioners

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner was the Plaintiff in a personal injury action resulting from a pistol-whipping attack at the Professional Office Building at Methodist Hospital (hereinafter "Methodist"). Respondent was the Defendant guard service which had contractually agreed with Methodist to provide security services at the office Plaintiff alleged that complex. Defendant's negligence was proximately related to the injuries sustained by Plaintiff. (App. 1) Defendant answered Plaintiff's Complaint and made several affirmative defenses, but did not allege the negligence of any third party, including Methodist, in its answer. (App. 2) Nor did Defendant assert that Methodist was negligent in answers to interrogatories. (App. 3)

At the pre-trial conference, the trial court issued a Pre-Trial Order which listed the issues to be tried. This Order did not list negligence of third parties as an issue in the case. (App. 4)

The case proceeded to trial on the issues listed in the Pre-Trial Order. No further Motions were made to amend the issues or pleadings in the case. During the trial, the Defendant objected to any reference to Methodist Hospital and affirmatively represented to the trial court that "they (Methodist) are <u>not on trial</u> here." Defendant's one witness did not present any affirmative testimony regarding any alleged negligence of Methodist.

Jury instructions were submitted by both parties to the Court. Defendant did not submit any jury instruction regarding negligence of any third parties. (App. 5)

After the close of all of the evidence and the denial of

Motions for Directed Verdict, the Defendant first attempted to assert the affirmative defense of negligence of third party Methodist. The request to include Methodist on the verdict form was denied and a jury returned a verdict for the Plaintiff. Although the trial court's reasons for denying Methodist's inclusion on the verdict form were incorrect, Plaintiff has argued that the decision not to allow Methodist's inclusion was correct on other grounds.

The Defendant appealed the verdict and the trial court's denial of a Motion for New Trial. Defendant's arguments on appeal were two-fold; (a) that it owed no duty to the Plaintiff and (b) that Methodist should have been on the verdict form.

The First District Court of Appeals found no merit to Defendant's claim of no duty.¹ However, the First District reversed and ordered a new trial to include Methodist Hospital on the verdict form, based upon this Court's decision in <u>Fabre v.</u> <u>Marin</u>, 623 So. 2d 1182 (Fla. 1993). (App. 6) Motions for rehearing and certification were filed but were denied on June 2, 1995. Thereafter Petitioner's Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Court was timely filed on June 29, 1995.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the First District Court of Appeals granted a new trial to Defendant/Appellant based upon an unpled, unraised and unproven affirmative defense that alleged the negligence of third parties. To that extent, it cannot be reconciled with eleven

¹ This part of the decision of the First District Court is not at issue in this Petition and has not been further challenged by Defendant.

decisions from the First, Second, Third and Fourth District Courts of Appeal, as further discussed herein, as well as Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.140(h). In addition, it constitutes a misapplication of this Court's ruling in <u>Fabre</u>, 623 So. 2d. 1182.

The basis for requiring a new trial, and the only assignment of error which was raised by the Defendant, was based upon the trial court preventing the jury from apportioning damages between the Defendant and a non-party, not upon the amount and kind of damages themselves. Therefore, to the extent that the First District's opinion requires a new trial of all issues, it cannot be reconciled with three opinions from the Third District Court as well as a decision from this Court, further discussed herein.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Florida Supreme Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review a decision of a District Court of Appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Supreme Court or any District Court of Appeal on the same point of law. Art. V \$3(b)(3), Fla. Const. (1980); Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv). Additionally, the Florida Supreme Court has jurisdiction to review a District Court of Appeal decision which misapplies a decision of this Court. Wale v. Barnes, 278 So. 2d 601, 604 (Fla. 1973)

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS CONFLICTS WITH DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL AND THE FLORIDA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE SINCE IT GRANTED A NEW TRIAL TO DEFENDANT/APPELLANT BASED UPON AN UNPLED, UNRAISED AND UNPROVEN AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE.

In the instant case, the record reveals that Defendant failed to raise the affirmative defense of negligence of third parties until after all parties rested. Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.140(h), holds:

> <u>A party waives all defenses</u> and objections that the party does not present either by motion...or, if the party has made no motion, in a responsive pleading... (emphasis added),

The First District Court has previously acknowledged these procedural guidelines in <u>State v. Pepper</u>, 155 So. 2d 383 (Fla 1st DCA 1963). In that case, the appellant asserted that it was error to prevent introduction of evidence which was outside the issues of the pre-trial order. The First District disagreed.

> The foregoing points on appeal call for consideration of issues outside the pleadings and foreign to the issues which the parties agreed should form the basis of the trial as reflected by the pre-trial conference order.

> Having agreed at the pre-trial conference that the only issue to be tried was whether appellant passed the examination taken by himappellant precluded himself from injecting into the trial any separate or different issues other than those agreed upon at the pretrial conference. The trial court was therefore correct in refusing to consider at the trial any new issues....

The Third District Court of Appeals has also applied the above rules to the waiver of an unpled affirmative defense. In <u>Bradford</u> <u>Builders, Inc. v. Dept. of Water & Sewers</u>, 142 So. 2d 137 (Fla. 3d DCA 1962), the Third District reversed a new trial which was based upon an unpled affirmative defense stating:

An available affirmative defense, if not asserted, is considered waived under 1.11(h), F.R.C.P., 30 F.S.A...Id. at 138.

When affirmative defenses are abandoned in the pleadings and

not raised during a scheduled pre-trial conference, they are waived and evidence which would support the unpled affirmative defense is properly excluded. Sonnenblick-Goldman v. Feldman, 266 So. 2d 48 (Fla. 3d DCA 1972). When affirmative defenses are abandoned in the pleadings, and not raised until the time of trial or thereafter, they are waived and the defendants are estopped from asserting them at trial. Peninsular Life Ins. Co. v. Hanratty, 281 So. 2d 609 (Fla. 3d DCA 1973), Kersey v. City of Riviera Beach, 337 So. 2d 995 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976). The Third District Court has gone even further in this analysis and in Meyers v. Garmire, 324 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975), the court found that it was prejudicial and reversible error to allow presentation of evidence on an affirmative defense that was not timely raised. All of the decisions above have applied basic civil procedure rules uniformly to find waiver of an affirmative defense that is not pled or raised by the defendant before trial. The decision from the First District Court in the instant case is in clear conflict since it finds error in failing to allow inclusion of an unpled affirmative defense in the context of third parties on the verdict form.

In <u>Seminole Gulf Railway v. Fassnacht</u>, 635 So. 2d 142 (Fla 2d DCA 1994), these procedural issues were raised by the dissent in the context of pleading and proving third-party negligence under Fla. Stat. \$768.81:

I do not believe the issue was adequately preserved by the defendant in the trial court. The record does not reflect that the defendant asked for relief under section 768.81 until after the jury returned its verdict. In my opinion, a defendant should raise section

768.81 as an affirmative defense, just as defendants have always raised contributory or comparative negligence. A defendant should request jury instructions on this issue similar to the standard instructions for comparative negligence. Id. at 144.

The case of <u>American Aerial Lift v. Perez</u>, 629 So. 2d 169 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) had the same reasoning as the dissent in <u>Fassnacht</u>. In that case, the Court refused to allow defendant to include an untimely asserted third party when it stated,

> As to the possible responsibility of Plaintiff's employer, the defendant adduced no evidence on that issue and did not request that the employer be included on the jury form. We see no reason why the defendant should be given another bite at either apple. Id. at 172.

In the instant case, the First District opinion attempts to give the Defendant another bite and conflicts with Perez.

The First District opinion is in even further conflict with the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeals rendered in <u>E.H.P. Corp. v. Cousin</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D995 (Fla. 2d DCA April 21, 1995). In that case, the trial court allowed a third party's name to be placed on the verdict form after the defendant first raised the issue on the eve before trial was to begin. In the appeal to the Second District, the propriety of the trial court's decision was addressed. The court stated,

> On the second point raised, [the third party's] name was added to the verdict form over Cousins' objection. This was allowed even though Jai-Alai failed to affirmatively plead the negligence of a third party or raise the matter at pretrial. The first notice the Cousins received of the inclusion of [the third party's] name on the verdict form was on the eve of trial. Although [the third party's]

name <u>should not have been placed on the</u> <u>verdict form</u>, the jury never reached the issue...as the jury's determination that Jai-Alai was not negligent was dispositive of the case. Therefore, any error in including [the third party's] name on the verdict form was harmless. Id. (emphasis added)

The Second District's opinion states that it is error to include a third party on the verdict form if the defendant does not plead the issue or raise the issue at pre-trial. The First District opinion in the instant matter says that it is reversible error not to place the name of a third party on the verdict form, even if the issue is not raised until all parties have rested their cases. Clearly, the two opinions are in conflict.

As to whether evidence must be presented by the Defendant before a third-party's negligence can be considered, the First District opinion is in conflict with at least three other District Court decisions. In <u>W.R. Grace & Co. v. Dougherty</u>, 636 So. 2d 746 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), the Second District Court upheld a trial court's refusal to place the names of third parties on the verdict form and stated:

> However, the evidence in this case was not sufficient to have permitted the jury to have received instructions and a verdict form pursuant to <u>Fabre...We</u> conclude that the only way to determine fault in a trial is from the evidence presented to the jury. Therefore, <u>there must be evidence of fault</u> of a non-party before a jury can determine the fault of that nonparty. Id. at 748 (emphasis in original)

The <u>Daughtry</u> decision has been followed as controlling in at least two other cases; <u>Owens-Illinois, Inc. v. Baione</u>, 642 So. 2d 3, 4 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) and <u>Chesterton v. Fisher</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly

D1192 (Fla. 3d DCA May 17, 1995).

In the instant case, both parties had rested their cases before Methodist's fault had been raised by the Defendant so evidence on the issue was not presented. Therefore, the First District Court opinion conflicts with all three of these opinions.

When This Court decided Fabre, it was attempting to give meaning to Florida's comparative fault statute. This Court did not intend, by that decision, to nullify the Rules of Civil Procedure regarding requirements of pleading and proof for affirmative defenses. When the opinion of the First District Court in the instant case is read along with this Court's opinion in Fabre, other opinions of courts cited by this Court in Fabre and with the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, it becomes clear that the application of the Fabre rule to the instant facts resulted in a misapplication of the law. The instant application of Fabre may have adverse constitutional due process implications. see Newville v. Dept. of Family Services, 883 P.2d 793 (Mont. 1994). The Fabre facts clearly show that the issues of third party fault were before the parties throughout the pendency of the litigation and that evidence of third party fault was presented at trial. Therefore, the facts in Fabre are sufficiently distinguishable from the instant case such that Fabre should not control the outcome of the instant case. The instant case can be resolved by reliance on basic civil procedure rules of pleading and proof.

> THE FIRST DISTRICT OPINION IS IN CONFLICT WITH OTHER DISTRICT COURT OPINIONS TO THE EXTENT THAT IT REQUIRES A NEW TRIAL ON ALL ISSUES WHEN THE BASIS FOR REQUIRING A NEW TRIAL WAS

BASED SOLELY ON THE JURY'S FAILURE TO APPORTION DAMAGES, NOT UPON THE AMOUNT AND KIND OF DAMAGES THEMSELVES.

The opinion of the First District in the instant case mandates a "new trial incorporating a proper verdict form" without restricting the trial to apportionment of fault. To that extent, it directly conflicts with opinions of the Third District Courts of Appeal. In <u>American Aerial Lift v. Perez</u>, 629 So. 2d 169 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), the Third District reversed the trial court based on <u>Fabre</u> issues. However, the Court also stated,

> Since a new trial is required on grounds unrelated to the damages issue, the new trial shall be confined to issues of the liability of the defendant and of the other entities allegedly responsible for the condition of the defective equipment. <u>Id.</u> at 172 (citations omitted)

The Third District followed this opinion with two others which come to the same result; if the reason for retrial is based upon the inclusion of non-parties pursuant to <u>Fabre</u>, then the new trial is to be based upon liability and apportionment only. <u>Schindler</u> <u>Corp. v. Ross</u>, 625 So. 2d 94, 96 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993) ("Neither of the errors which require a new trial affected the jury's determination of the plaintiff's damages. Accordingly, we direct that issue shall not be considered at the retrial..."). <u>Schindler Elevator Corp. v. Viera</u>, 644 So. 2d 563, 564 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994) ("On remand, the trial court is instructed not to consider the issue of damages, and to confine the issues on retrial to a determination of the negligence...")

Therefore, the First District opinion in the instant case is

directly contrary to the line of cases from the Third District discussed above and a clear conflict exists. Additionally, this Court has previously adopted a similar holding in <u>Purvis v. Inter-</u> <u>County Telephone & Telegraph Co.,</u> 173 So. 2d 679 (Fla. 1965), which adopted the rule in <u>Larrabee v. Capeletti Bros.</u>, 158 So. 2d 540 (Fla. 3d DCA 1963), holding that where the assignments of error and issues raised by the party bringing the appeal only relate to liability, the new trial should not address issues of damages. Therefore, the First District Court decision also conflicts with these opinions.

CONCLUSION

Petitioner respectfully submits that this Court has jurisdiction to review the decision below since it expressly conflicts with several decisions of this Court, other District Courts of Appeal and the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. Petitioner requests that this Court exercise that jurisdiction to consider the merits of petitioner's arguments.

RESPECTE WILLY SUBMITTED,

CORINNE L. HELLER, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 907911 136 East Bay Street Jacksonville, FL 32202 (904) 356-6071 Attorneys for Petitioners

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true copy of the foregoing has been furnished to James P. Murray, Esquire, International Place, 100 Southeast Second Street, Seventeenth Floor, Miami, FL 33131-1101 by U.S. Mail this 10th day of July, 1995.