IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

WG 9 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

DOCKET NO. 85,990 (DCA No. 93-3025)

LUCILLE NASH,

Petitioner,

vs.

WELLS FARGO GUARD SERVICES, INC. OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

On Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction From The District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District

FOWLER, WHITE, BURNETT, HURLEY,
BANICK & STRICKROOT, P.A.
Attorneys for Respondent
International Place - 17th Floor
100 Southeast Second Street
Miami, Florida 33131-1101
(305) 789-9200

SY: STEVEN E. STARK Florida Bar No. 516864

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Nash's Statement of Case and Facts is improper and reflects facts beyond the four corners of the decision of the First District Court of Appeal, which are the only facts relevant to this Court's determination of whether or not to exercise its discretionary conflict jurisdiction. Thus, her references to matters within the appendix, with the exception of the decision itself, are improper and should not be considered by this Court. Under the circumstances, notwithstanding Respondent's opposition to some of the positions taken, they will not respond to these allegations. Respondents will not restate the facts of this case, but rather will rely upon and refer to the decision of the First District Court of Appeal, which is attached hereto in Respondent's Appendix. 1

Thus, Petitioner's representations regarding the Complaint, Answer, Pre-Trial Order, trial proceedings, jury instructions are irrelevant to the issues before this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the First District Court of Appeal, which reversed the verdict rendered in favor of the Plaintiff and remanded the action for a new trial, does not directly or expressly conflict with the decision of this Court or any other district court of appeal on the same question of law. Rather, it cites to and correctly follows this Court's decision in Fabre v. Marin, 623 So. 2d 1182 (Fla. 1983). The District Court neither cited any of the cases that Nash asserts are in conflict nor did it express a rule of law different than any other decision that she cited. Thus, there is no "direct and express" conflict upon which this Court can exercise its discretion to accept jurisdiction herein. Indeed, even were this Court to have such discretion, this issue, which Petitioner never raised in the trial court, was fully and adequately addressed by the court below.

With respect to the second grounds for this Court's conflict jurisdiction, there is also no conflict between the decision of the First District and the other decision cited. The First District reversed and remanded the action for a new trial incorporating a proper verdict form. It is up to the appellate court, which is the court of last resort absent a valid jurisdictional basis in this Court, to review and determine what relief is appropriate under given circumstances. After analyzing the issues and errors alleged (there were additional errors alleged beyond the <u>Fabre</u> issue) the First District determined

that a new trial was required. It expressed no rule of law contrary to Third District decisions. Further, Petitioner never raised this issue in her brief or in her motion for rehearing. Under the circumstances, this Court should not exercise jurisdiction herein.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT I. COURT OF APPEAL DOES NOT DIRECTLY EXPRESSLY CONFLICT WITH DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL OR THIS COURT ON THE SAME OUESTION OF LAW AND THIS COURT REFUSE TO EXERCISE SHOULD JURISDICTION HEREIN.

assertion applicable Other brief of the than а constitutional and rule provisions, Petitioner provides this Court with no valid basis upon which this Court's jurisdiction would arise under its discretionary conflict review powers. order for this Court to have "direct conflict" it must be based upon facts contained "within the four corners of the decisions allegedly in conflict." Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). Further, although the district court decision does not have to specifically identify a conflict with other appellate decisions in order to be "express", it must at a minimum discuss and apply legal principles that are in conflict with other decisions for there to be a sufficient basis for review. See Ford Motor Co. v. Kikis, 401 So. 2d 1341 (Fla. 1981).

Applying these concepts to the Petitioner's jurisdictional brief and in light of the decision below, she has not only failed to show a sufficient basis for this Court's jurisdiction, but indeed has requested this Court to exercise jurisdiction based upon outmoded concepts of the "record proper" by asking this Court to review, through improper inclusion to her appendix, the purported "record" in the case and the "issues" presented, even though those issues were never presented by the parties in their

briefs and was not reflected in the decision of the district court of appeal.

The four corner of the district court decision, which expresses the only facts and conclusions relevant to the jurisdictional issue before this Court, does not make any direct and express finding regarding the issue that is allegedly in conflict with the multitude of decisions that Nash cites. the circumstances, rather than addressing the merit of this matter, which were addressed completely in the briefs and on the motions for rehearing below, Respondents merely suggest that under this Court's limited jurisdictional powers and pursuant to the requirements for jurisdictional briefs, Petitioner's brief jurisdictional question.2 sufficient does not raise a Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(2)(A)(iv); Fla.R.Civ.P. 9.120(d).

Indeed, Petitioner's entire appendix and jurisdictional statement of facts and argument should be stricken by this Court. Nevertheless, rather than striking the brief, it would simply be appropriate for this Court to decline to exercise its jurisdiction.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION DOES NOT DIRECTLY AND EXPRESSLY CONFLICT WITH THE DECISIONS OF OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL ON THE ISSUE OF THE GRANTING OF A NEW TRIAL.

this Court's conflict alleged basis for Α second jurisdiction is that the decision of the First District Court of Appeal conflicts with decisions of the Third District Court of Appeal in American Aerial Lift v. Perez, 629 So. 2d 169 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993); Schindler Corp. v. Ross, 625 So. 2d 94, 96 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993); and Schindler Elevator Corp. v. Viera, 644 So. 2d 563, 564 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994). These cases deal with the issue of the scope of retrial where the sole issue for reversal is the concepts set forth in Fabre. In the instant action, the district court did not reference these cases, address the issue, or Rather, it merely reversed express a conflicting rule of law. remanded the action for a new trial. Under circumstances, no direct and express or even "implied" conflict In addition, despite her assertion that this issue is now in conflict, Nash never raised this issue in the district court within her motion for rehearing (attached Exhibit "B"). As a result, she should be precluded from raising that issue before this Court under its conflict review powers, because allegedly conflicting issues was never an issue in this appeal. Based upon the errors alleged by Respondents below, the district court was well within its power in ruling as it did and remanding the action for a new trial and there is no jurisdictional or jurisprudential basis for this Court to engage in further review.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, the Respondents respectfully request that this Court deny Petitioner's request that this Court exercise its discretionary jurisdiction.